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GuIDE TO BEAVERS BEND STATE PARK

INTRODUCTION

This guidebook was prepared to acquaint the
reader with the history, geology, botany, zoology,
and recreational facilities of Beavers Bend State
Park and vicinity.

The park is in the southeast corner of Okla-
homa in the south-central Ouachita Mountains,
the mountains that consist of a series of narrow
wooded ridges extending about 220 miles west-
ward from Little Rock, Arkansas, to Atoka, Okla-
homa. The park is about 10Y road miles north of
Broken Bow, Oklahoma, on State Highway 21A.
It was named for Mr. Beavers, a settler whose land
adjoined a sharp bend in Mountain Fork River,
called Beavers Bend. The bend itself is just north

of the 1,300 acres that make up the park area. The

wooded hills locally rise as high as 400 feet above
Mountain Fork River, providing beautiful scenery
for those who explore the park area along the
river,

The principal facilities of the park are in a
comparatively level, grass-covered valley beside a
narrow lake formed by the backwaters of a small
dam across Mountain Fork River in the south-
eastern corner of the park. Facilities for picnick-
ing, camping, boating, fishing, and swimming
are available in the park, as is also a children’s
playground. In the park the Oklahoma State
Planning and Resources Board operates a restaur-
ant, 19 modern cabins, and a group camp area
with sleeping and eating accomodations for 200.
Access to all but the more mountainous parts of
the park is provided by paved road. Elsewhere,
unpaved roads throughout the park area have the
happy characteristic of only locally becoming soft
and impassable because of rain.

Anyone desiring more information about the
park and its facilities may write to the park super-
intendent, Beavers Bend State Park, Broken Bow,
Oklahoma. :

GEOLOGY OF BEAVERS BEND STATE PARK

Wirriam D. Prrr anp CHARLES B. SPRADLIN

Geology in its broadest definition is the study
of the earth. It includes many divisions of study:
rocks and their mineral constituents; the record of
past life found in rock strata; the comparison of
rocks of similar age throughout the world; and
other similar divisions.

PionEER Work oF C. W. Honess

The park area and vicinity were first studied
geologically by Charles W. Honess, who complet-
ed his geological survey of this general area in
1923, at which time his report, Geology of the
southern Ouachita Mountains, was published as
Bulletin 32 of the Oklahoma Geological Survey. In
this study Honess mapped about 1,000 square miles
by walking in that area all the half-section lines
that ran in a north to south direction, making
geological notes and collecting rock specimens as

essentially correct.

he traversed the area. His mapped area included
that of Beavers Bend Park. Charles B. Spradlin,
accompanied by his father, remapped the park
area and vicinity in greater detail during 1958,
finding thereby that Honess’ pioneer work was
QuarTz VEINS

Quartz, a hard (scratches knife biade), norm-
ally milk-colored mineral in the park area, is
common in all the rocks of the park area. Tabular
masses parallel the layers of rock strata or fill
natural cracks in the rocks. Elsewhere rounded
or elliptical masses of quartz seem to permeate
large areas of sedimentary rock. Locally it com-
pletely covers the ground in the form of thickly
strewn chunks, some of which are a foot or more
in diameter.
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STRUCTURE AND SCENERY

~“Structure” here means the way that the ori-
ginally horizontal beds were deformed into some
position other than hortizontal. Essentially the
rocks of the park area were tilted or inclined
gently eastward or southeastward. This tilted
structure, called a homocline, was also war-
ped into a series of upfolds called anticlines and
adjoining downfolds called synclines; but even in
the anticlinal and synclinal areas the regional east-
erly tilt of the rock layers is present. This structure
has had a profound effect upon the location of
the ridges and valleys of the park area. The hard
ridge-forming layers of rock that tilt eastward
have a general north-south trend, as do the softer
valley-forming layers on either side of the ridges.
Where the hard rock layers are inclined or dip
very steeply eastward, the east slope of the ridge is

Figure 3. Massive tuff bed of lower part of the

Stanley Shale Formation at Rattlesnake Bluff,
Beavers Bend State Park.

as steep as the west slope; this ridge is called a
hogback ridge. Where the rock layers on the
ridges are only slightly inclined eastward, the east
slope is much gentler than the west slope; this
ridge is termed a cuesta.

TiME anD Rock Divisions

The largest time subdivisions of the world
are known as eras. These time divisions are term-
inated by periods of most rapid change of life
forms, or by periods of mountain making, as
shown by the record found in the rocks here and
elsewhere. Abundance of life forms on earth did-
not begin until about half a billion years ago with
the beginning of the Paleozoic (old-life) Era. This
era was followed by the Mesozoic (middle-life)
Era, which in turn was followed by the Cenozoic
(recent-life) Era. The Cenozoic Era lasted about
60 million years, during the last one million years
of which man was probably on earth. The Ceno-
zoic Era was the shortest of these three eras, for
the Mesozoic Era was three times as long, or 180
million years in length of time, and the Paleozoic
Era was five times as long “as the Cenozoic Era,
or 300 million years in length of time. The earth
is at least eight times as old as these eras put to-
gether; that is, the earth itself is estimated to be
from 4 to 10 billions of years old. The vast time
era before the Paleozoic Era is generally referred
to as Precambrian time.

Most of the rocks and sediments in the park
area were deposited in seas during the Paleozoic
Era, making most of them well over 250 million
years old. The subdivisions of an era are called
periods; seven periods of time make up the Paleo-
zoic Era. The reader will not be able to see these
subdivisions by examining the rock layers in the
park; he will, however, be able to see the natural
rock or lithologic subdivisions called formations.
A formation is a mappable unit, a sequence of
rock layers that can be traced from one area to
another as a distinctive and recognizable rock
unit. A geologist can trace a formation because it
has a distinctive topographic expression. Some for-
mations come to the surface along hilltops, others
along valley bottoms, and still others along hill-
sides. Traceable units in this area generally can be
classified as ridge-makers or as valley-makers. If a
given sequence of rock layers normally forms a



ridge or hill because it is more resistant to the de-
caying forces of nature than the rock sequences
or units above or below it, we say it is a ridge-mak-
ing formation; the less resistant rock sequences or

units are therefore logically called valley-making '

formations. ’

RIDGE-MAKING FORMATIONS

Bigfork Chert. The name of this rock unit
is derived from the hard chert beds that make
up about half of its total thickness of 400 to 800
feet (See roadlog and map for locations of form-
ation). Most of the rest of the formation consists
of a softer, platy rock called shale. The chert layers
seldom jut out in ledges except along Mountain
Fork River. Instead, the chert typically covers the
steep slope in brick-size fragments. Normally this
formation weathers out along high, narrow, and
short ridges that in airplane view resemble the
convolutions of calves’ brains. The black shales
of this unit locally contain many fossils called
graptolites; these fossils, visible on the bedding
surfaces of the shale, resemble pencil markings,
some of which are shaped like saw blades.

PRI § 2 =

Figure 4. Blaylock Sandstone exposed beside State
Highway 21A just inside Beavers Bend State Park,
NEv, sec. 16, T. 5 8., R. 25 E.

Blaylock Sandstone. 'This formation consists
of about 885 feet of thin (1 to 4 inches thick) gray-
to green-colored beds of sandstone and iilitic shale.
Typical outcrops are seen along the roadside at the
first turn just inside the park entrance on State
Highway 21A (See road log). The formation
forms elongate, even-topped hills where it is ex-

posed at the surface. A thick mat of grass, more
often than timber, is typical of the slopes where
this formation intersects the ground surface or
crops out. A curious and inexplicable concentric
marking occurs locally on the thin-sandstone
surfaces of the middle part of the Blaylock. The
marking consists of a series of furrows or small
ridges that parallel adjacent furrows or ridges;
each ridge or furrow eventually joins to form a
complete loop, never crossing the adjacent furrow
in doing so. Transverse ridges or furrows that
extend partly across the linear ridges or furrows
resemble footprints, possibly of a millipede-like
creature.

Arkansas Novaculite. ‘'This is easily the most
distinctive formation in the Ouachita Mountains.
The formation, like the Bigfork Chert, consists
mostly of beds of dark chert and shale. The chert
in this formation, however, is multicolored, locally
being white, green, red, gray, blue, black, or yel-
low. Beds of chert or novaculite are up to 7 feet
thick, although 2- to 12-inch beds are more com-
mon. The formation in the park area totals 312
feet in one section measured by Spradlin. The up-
permost part of the formation abounds in cavities
from a fraction of an inch to two feet in diameter.
Where the cavities are interconnected, they be-
come the home of myriads of rats. This cavity-
filled bed may be studied behind cabin 10 in Bea-
vers Bend State Park, where, incidentally, rats are
not common.

VALLEY-MAKING FORMATIONS

The shales on both sides of the ridge-making -
formations are narrow-valley formers except for
two shale units: the Womble Shale, the rock unit
that underlies the Bigfork Chert, and the Stanley
Shale, the shale that overlies the Arkansas Nov-
aculite. These thick shale units are described
below.

Womble Shale. 'The Womble Shale, about
1,000 feet thick, if combined with the here indis-
tinguishable Mazarn Shale beneath, does not crop
out in Beavers Bend Park; but it does so exten-
sively west of the park area (See road log). Its out-
crop band, more than a mile wide, is characterized
by low hills, most of which are covered with frag-
ments of white quartz. The quartz outcrop itself
seemns to cause most of the hills in this outcrop



belt. Actual exposures of this unit are few; road-
side outcrops, however, are found along a one-
mile stretch of road south of the junction of State
Highways 21 and 21A. At these outcrops the shale
unit consists of thin beds of green- to buff-colored
siltstone and shale.

Stanley Shale. This formation, predominantly
shale, contains local beds of sandstone and tuff
in its 6,000 feet or more of total thickness. The
main recreation (valley) area of Beavers Bend
State Park rests on Stanley Shale. Here the Stanley
consists of bluish-green, slabby shales interbedded
with thin beds of sandstone and tuff. The tuff
beds consist mostly of an accumulation of fine
particles that were blown out, fiery hot, from
volcanoes about 300 million years ago. A rock
specimen of tuff contains grains of sand, sharp-
edged pieces of a soft white mineral (kaolin),
shale, glass, and other materials that together give
the specimen a fragmental appearance. These
fragment-filled beds make up the several tuff beds
that are seen so prominently along Rattlesnake
Bluff, the cliff that overlooks the swimming pool
in the park area. A 90-foot-thick bed of tuff caps
Rattlesnake Bluff, with thinner beds of tuff ex-
posed beneath. A total of 737 feet of lower Stanley

Figure 5. Tabular black Stanley shales beside
south bank of Mountain Fork River behind cabin
10 in Beavers Bend State Park.

was measured at Rattlesnake Bluff. The tuff beds
and especially the sandstone beds in the Stanley
cause high ridges in some areas, but normally the
Stanley Shale crops out in a valley, between the

10

ridge-making Arkansas Novaculite below and the
thick beds of the Jackfork Sandstone Formation
above.

Figure 6. Stanley shales in Beavers Creek mear
the bathhouse in Beavers Bend State Park.

Scenic Road Log (with emphasis on
geology), from Broken Bow, Oklahoma,
to recreational center, Beavers Bend State
Park.
Mileage
0.0 At junction of State Highways 3, 7, 21 and
U.8. Highway 70, turn north on State High-
way 21 toward Beavers Bend State Park.
Large frame building to right is Charles
Wesley Hotel; excellent family style meals
served here.
Entrance to State of Oklahoma Board of
Agriculture, Forestry Division. This divi-
sion cooperates with the Dierks Lumber
Company in putting out forest fires morth
of here.
Orange- and buff-colored beds of gravel
and sand, inclined slightly toward south,
were laid down in seas that covered all of
Oklahoma more than 70 million years ago.
Geologists call these beds the Holly Creek
Formation, deposited during tht Cretaceous
Period (upper part of the Mesozoic Era).
Yanubbee Creek Bridge.
Bridge.
Deep road cut at top of hill in very hard
formation called Arkansas Novaculite; this
rock is quarried for whetstone in Hot
Springs, Arkansas. It causes the highest
ridges in the Beavers Bend State Park and
adjoining area.
Black compact rock on the east side of road
(right side in going north) is the rock form-
ation called the Bigfork Chert. It also forms
many prominent ridges in this general area.
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If one splits this dense rock, he can find saw-
blade shaped remains of former marine ani-
mals called graptolites.
Junetion of State Highway 21 and Old Cle-
bit Road. The oldest rock found in the Oua-
chita Mountains is found 5.6 miles west
along Old Clebit Road, where the road
crosses Lukfata Creek by means of a cement-
slab ford. These old beds consist of thin
beds of dark limestone and flaky shale be-
longing to the Lukfata Sandstone Formation
of lower Paleozoic age. Other landmarks
along this road include:
At 1.7 miles (from junction of State
Highway 21 and Old Clebit Road), notice
clear water flowing over Womble Shale
beneath bridge.
At 2 miles, see pine trees on south planted
by Dierks Luumber Company, which owns
about 95 percent of the land in this gen-
eral area. .

At 2.5 miles, at this right-angle turn and
for several hundred yards west, travel on
the Crystal Mountain Sandstone; notice
the sandstone and milky quartz boulders.

Junection of State Highway 21 and Old Clebit
Road ; continue northward on State Highway
21. For next mile one can see outcrops of the
‘Womble Shale, the rock unit that underlies
the Bigfork Chert.
Junction of State Highway 21 (which con-
tinues northward) and State Highway 21A,
which leads eastward to Beavers Bend State
Park. By driving northward from this point
10.5 miles, one will come to the junction of
the road to the Carter Mountain lookout
tower and State Highway 21, at the top of
a hill. One can enjoy a beautiful view of the
southern Ouachita Mountains from the top
of the tower, or even from its base. If you
climb the tower, please remember that no
more than six people are allowed on the
tower at the same time. Other landmarks
along this road include:
At 4.5 miles (northward from junection of
State Highways 21 and 21A). Government
springs to the right (east) of highway.
The government land surveyors in the
1890°s camped beside this spring while
making the original surveys in the area.
In roadcut just ahead, notice extreme
degree of folding (folds that are ‘‘lying
on their sides’’ are recumbent folds) of
thin shale and limestone beds of the Maz-
arn-Womble Shale Fomations; also notice
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the quartz veins that intruded the folded
beds.
At 7.2 miles, junction of Hairpin Bend
trail and Cedar Creek trail with highway;
just north of this point are deep roadcuts
in the Arkansas Novaculite; notice the
extreme degree of folding, broken locally
by faults (eracks in rock along which
rocks on both sides have been moved).
Junction of State Highways 21 and 21A;
continue eastward on State Highway 21A.
Sharp hill ahead is ‘‘held up’’ by Bigfork
Chert Formation; notice the rectangular
blocks of chert along the steep slopes in
passing through the gap in the ridge. :
Sharp turn to left; notice that the layers
of Blaylock Sandstone, exposed along the
roadside from this point northward, are
inclined in the direction you are traveling
(northward) ; you are on the south flank of
a downfold of rock strata; the rock layers
are folded into the form of an immense ‘‘bath
tub,’” called a syncline.
At the center of the syncline, rocks beneath
car are the Arkansas Novaculite; bottom' of
the fold is tilted slightly eastward (or to the
right of a car traveling northward). Notice
valley to right, which is caused by the tilting
of this downfold toward the east. The valley
bottom consists of the Stanley Shale, the
valley-forming unit overlying the Arkansas
Novaculite.
On the north side of the downfold, in the
Blaylock Sandstone Formation (again);
notice the large fold lying on its side on
roadcut to right of road.
Entrance to Beavers Bend State Park (no
guns or dogs allowed).
Notice layers of Blaylock Sandstone chang-
ing from horizontal to vertical in their align-
ment. This phenomenon is caused by tight
folding and breaking of rock strata with
folding.
Rock collectors, stop the car. Notice the
varicolored thick bed of Arkansas Nova-
culite. Polished specimens are attractive gem
stones.

Recreational center of park area. Slabby
rock in roadecuts nearby belongs to the Stan-
ley Shale Formation, as do the rocks in
Rattlesnake Bluff opposite the swimming
hole. Most of the cliff-forming beds of this
bluff are tuff beds, consisting mainly of
fragments blown from volcanoes roughly
300 million years ago.



PREHISTORY OF BEAVERS BEND STATE PARK

RoserT E. BELL

Although there have been no specific arch-
aeological excavations conducted within the con-
fines of Beavers Bend Park, the valleys of Moun-
tain Fork River, Glover Creek, and other streams
in McCurtain County have long been inhabited
by the American Indian. Surface evidence, in the
form of flint chips, fire-cracked stones, broken
animal bones, burnt clay, or artifacts, such as
arrowpoints, knives, or scrapers are to be found
along the stream banks marking the former exis-
tence of camping spots or village sites. From our
meager surface collections and from excavations
along Glover Creek, we know that the region was
fairly well populated in prehistoric times and that,
centuries before any white man viewed McCurtain
County, some early peoples achieved a way of life
which merits our respect.

The oldest materials that we have on record
from the region are flint spear or dart points from
the Paleo-Indians or Big Game Hunters, who
inhabited the Great Plains country several thou-
sand years ago. These were a nomadic and mi-
gratory people, mainly hunters who followed and
preyed upon the great herds of bison throughout
the plains country. They are identified by distinc-
tive stone projectile points; and some of these,
such as the Scottsbluff and Meserve points, have
been collected from the McCurtain County area.
Apparently these early Big Game Hunters passed
through this region, or included it within their
_ hunting domain, as early as 5000 s.c.

For the next 5000 or 6000 years, the region
was intermittently occupied by other or related
groups who were more dependent upon a forest
economy of hunting and gathering. These peoples
are more closely related to early inhabitants of
eastern United States, where we recognize them
as the Archaic peoples. Although still dependent
upon hunting, especially deer and forest animals,
they were learning better to exploit their environ-
ment by gathering various wild plant products,
such as nuts, seeds, berries, and roots. Too, shell-
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fish or mussels from the streams added variety to
their diet. Sites from this time suggest that, al-
though still represented by small groups, the way
of life was not so migratory and that favorite
localities could be occupied over longer periods of

- time or were revisited more frequently. The total

cultural inventory became more complex by the
addition of new tools, utensils, weapons, and
ornaments. One can note a greater exploitation of
the local natural resources, as well as the begin-
nings of trade and exchange with surrounding
regions.

Out of this Archaic tradition, stimulated by
influences either from the Mississippi Valley or
possibly from Mexico, by anp. 800 or 1000 the
McCurtain County area developed a sedentary
food-producing population. These Indians -were
farmers, raising corn and probably various types
of beans and squash. The villages were located in
the stream valleys, where easily tillable agricult-
ural lands were readily available for their crops.
Although the villages were small, they were nu-
merous and tended to cluster around a religious
center, which served as a focal point for their cere-
monial life. Refuse from their households indicates
that hunting was still important, but the reliability
of garden produce made life easier and less un-
certain.

The houses of these people varied in style and
were quite adequate. Some were square or rec-
tangular, often thirty or thirty-five feet across,
with walls built of wooden upright posts caulked
solid with a mixture of grass and clay. Others were
round, circular structures, thirty or more feet in
diameter, and were built like the bechive-shaped
grass houses of the Caddo or Wichita in historic
times. The interiors featured fire hearths, sleeping
platforms, and storage areas for food surplus.
Household equipment included pottery vessels
and containers of wood, basketry, or skins, various
implements associated with food preparation,
tools for the manufacture of clothing, various



weapons, and articles for cultivation of the fields.
Personal adornment was not overlooked, and we
find beads of shell, pendants and ornaments, hair
pins, earrings, and various pigments which ap-
parently were cosmetics. Probably it is in the pot-
tery, however, that we can see the best expression
of their artistic ability. They produced a wide
variety of forms, variously shaped bowls, jars, and
bottles, not only in brown colors but also in a
bright red. Many of these were decorated with
graceful incised or engraved designs, which en-
hance the beauty of the vessel; and prized speci-
mens were sometimes buried with the dead.
Each village usually maintained its own burial
area and contributed to the support of a nearby

ceremonial center. Such centers are marked by
large earthen mounds which served as a founda-
tion for the erection of a special structure—the
local temple or ceremonial meeting place. Here
the supernatural world was dealt with, but we
can only guess as to the nature of such activities.

Although these people dominated the McCur-
tain County region for a century or more, we are
unable to identify any specific tribe or individual.
Apparently they had abandoned the region by the
time early white explorers entered the area; in all
probability, however, they were the ancestors of
the Caddoan speaking groups to be found along
the Red River in historic times.

THE CHOCTAW COUNTRY

A. M. Gisson

On the eastern fringe of the Cross-Timbers,
sandwiched between the Canadian River and the
Red River is the Choctaw Country. There nature
ran riot. Tumbled land forms distorted the orderly
prairie plains and from the geological scramble
the Kiamichi range, the Jack Fork, Winding
Stair, and pine-clad Sans Bois humped above the
Choctaw flats. Sparkling waters tumbled from
highland springs, fused into tributaries and
in lowlands formed the Mountain Fork, the Kia-
michi, and the Blue. These rivers cut deep and
their banks were laced with oak, walnut, maple,
and hickory forests, which blended with
cedar stands on the summits.

Bison, deer, bears, fur-bearing animals,
turkeys, and wild horses abounded on its prairies
and in the forest glades. Rich beaver harvests on
the Mountain Fork, and muskrat, coon, and bob-
cat in the Kiamichi Valley made the Choctaw
Country a trapper’s paradise.

In the Choctaw language there are two
words: Atukko, meaning haven and Yakni Ach-
nukma for good land. These were the most com-
mon terms used to describe this domain in earlier
times. Small wonder the Choctaws were so en-

pine and
Ir
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thusiastic over this country, willingly exchanging
their swarnp-ridden Mississippi home for Yakni
Achnukma.

Despite its pristine beauty and boundless re-
sources, the Choctaw Country had been a home
for other peoples before the Choctaw migrations.
Recent mound excavations in the Spiro area have
yielded evidence of pre-Columbian occupation,
which includes pearls, beads, engraved conch
shells, copper axes and drills, ceremonial maces,
pipe bowls, images in stone, spears, and fragments
of cloth (Bell and Baerreis, 1951).

Caddoan tribes accunied the Red River Vaﬂcy

1100 OCLRPICC 10 R RAVED

during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries,
and erected substantial villages in the lower Choc-

‘taw Country. Quapaw bands are known to have
‘migrated up the Arkansas Valley as far west as

old Fort Coffey. In the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries the Osage considered the Choctaw
Country as the southern fringe of their hunting
lands.

About 1800 a band of Shawnees from the Old
Northwest moved to a site near present Idabel on
Red River and established Shawneetown, a thriv-
ing agricultural settlement consisting of cabins,



log-fenced fields, and herds of livestock. The
-Shawnees were joined in 1817 by white settlers
from Arkansas.

So numerous did these whites become in the
southeastern corner of the Choctaw Country that
in 1820 the Arkansas Territorial Legislature or-

ganized Miller County, and the bustling com-
munity of Miller Court House, which boasted 2
United States post office, became the county seat.
Additional Arkansas settlements in present Mc-
Curtain and Choctaw Counties, notably at Clear
Creek and Pecan Point, radiated from Miller
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Court House. Settlers cleared farmsteads, erected
cabins and barns, and collected their surplus grain
for shipment on the creeks and rivers via keel-
boats, pirogues, and bullboats to the Red River
landings. From there, flatboats carried their pro-
duce to Natchitoches or New Orleans.

The Arkansas Gazette regularly advertised
the opportunities for successful farming in Miller
County (The Daily Oklahoman, April 23, 1939).
The biggest threat to an extension of the line of
Arkansas settlement in the Choctaw County was
frequent forays by the plains tribes west of the
Cross-Timbers. Throughout the early 1820,
Comanches and Kiowas raided up to the Kiamichi
settlements of Miller County, killing settlers at
work in their fields, driving off their livestock,
and carrying women and children into captivity.

The Osages, too, resented this intrusion into
their historic hunting lands and made ominous
threats. In 1823, Mad Buffalo, son of Clermont,
led a large party of mounted Osages to the mouth
of the Kiamichi and drove off cattle and horses of
Miller County settlers. On his return, Mad Buffalo
massacred a party of American and French trap-
pers on the Blue. Miller County citizens demanded
protection; and in May, 1824, Fort Towson was
constructed on the bluffs of Gates Creek as a buf-

fer against Comanche, Kiowa, Kickapoo, Pawnee,

and Osage raids (The Daily Oklahoman, March
13,1927.)

Miller County residents also faced Indian
boundary problems. The Treaty of Dancing Rab-
bit Creck, negotiated between the United States
and the Choctaws had granted to the Choctaws
the Miller County area. Protests from Arkansas
Territory resulted in an act of Congress in 1824,
providing for the western boundary of Arkansas
to run due north from the mouth of the Kiamichi
(United States Statutes at Large, vol. 4, p- 40).

This victory was brief since the Choctaws,
who were preparing to surrender their Mississippi
lands to the United States and journey to their
new home in the West, countered with stronger
protests; and the boundary was moved east to a
line to run from the Red to a point one-hundred
paces east of Fort Smith (Kappler, 1904). In spite
of the cession of this territory to the Choctaws, a
large number of original settlers in old Miller Co-
unty remained and coalesced into the Chactaw
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communities established between 1825 and 1835.*

The Choctaws, to whom the country between -
the Canadian and the Red and west of Arkan-
sas had been assigned, were of Muskogean lin-
guistic stock. Early in the history of American
discovery and exploration they caught the notice
of Spanish, French, and British adventurers be-
cause of their remarkable economic development,
tribal valor and integrity, and their intriguing
folklore. De Soto’s gulf expedition in 1540 found
the Choctaws occupying the fortified town of
Maubila (Mobile) and ranging across present
Alabama and Mississippi. The Choctaws managed
to stay free of Spanish involvement.

French designs in the gulf region during the
seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries dis-
rupted the relations between the Choctaws and
their brothers, the Chickasaws, and provoked a
series of internecine wars that drastically reduced
the French-allied Chickasaws. Hostility for the
French made the Choctaws allies of the British
until the American War of Independence, during
which the Choctaws furnished several warrior
battalions for the Continental armies. Thereafter,
Choctaw veterans received Revolutionary War
pensions from a grateful United States. '

Choctaw amity with the United States per-
sisted through the War of 1812. When Tecumseh
visited the gulf tribes in 1811, secking their affili-
ation with his Indian Confederacy for the purpose
of waging a massive war on the United States,
the Choctaws refused. Continuing its loyalty to
the United States, the Choctaw tribe furnished
several battalions for service against Great Britain
in the War of 1812.

Before the impact of Western culture made

1 Melown 2 d maceoo o
heavy inroads on Choctaw folklorc and customs,

this tribe had a most intriguing set of practices.
The Choctaws lived in villages and farmed ad-
jacent lands. These lands were held in common,
ownership being in the tribe and not in individual
title. The Choctaws were regarded as the best
agriculturalists of the Five Civilized Tribes. Their
Mississippi and Alabama cornfields yielded bount-
iful harvests, which were traded to neighboring

*The new line was run in 1826, and is inaccurate; it veers

west two or three miles where it joins the Red River. By
the Choctaw agreement of 1825, Fort Smith remained in
the Indian Territory until 1905 when an act of Congress
allowed Arkansas to annex the Fort Smith area.
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markets for resourceful Choctaws who brought
in bear oil, honey, hogs, and furs (Wright, 1951,
p. 103). The Choctaws were skillful hunters and
fishermen, too, and although firearms made their

tribes. In addition, Choctaw farmers produced
melons, pumpkins, sunflower seed, wild fruits,

nuts, and berries.
European posts and settlements furnished
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hunts more successful, even in the days of the bow
and arrow Choctaws won renown as marksmen.
For small game, the Choctaws used blowguns
made of reeds and using small darts. Choctaw
fishermen speared fish in the clear streams, cap-
tured them in nets woven from vines, and drug-
ged those hiding in deep holes with crushed buck-
eye and winterberries.

Besides a stable economic life, the Choctaws
- had a rich folklore. The most basic feature con-
cerned the story of Choctaw origin and depicted
a deity who descended into the midst of a muddy
plain and erected a high hill. This he named
Nanih-waya, which means “productive mount-
ain.” When the Choctaw creator had finished this
sacred mound, he drew from its vitals the Choctaw
people.

The native Choctaw religion was an interest-
ing compound of the Nanih-waya and other
traditions; homage to certain elements, especially
sun and fire; propitiation of good and evil spirits
by fasting, dancing, and spells; and various super-
stitions concerning witches, demons, and signs.
The Choctaw religious lore was preserved by med-
icine men, the Alikchi, to whom were ascribed
special powers of controlling evil spirits, conjur-
ing, and healing.

Besides this tribal clergy, Choctaw religion
was carried on by individual warriors with special
tokens, signs, and supernatural devices. These
consisted of bone ash from ferocious beasts, “part-
icles of red clay or colored sand, bones or feathers
of brightly colored birds,” all boiled together and
enclosed in each warrior’s sacred medicine bag. A
series of tribal dances, including the green-corn
dance, war dance, and scalp dance, expressed
through physical movement the deep religious
convictions of the Choctaw (McReynolds, 1954,
p. 95).

Choctaw religion included a belief in the
Great Spirit and in an afterlife. Their funeral
customs, reflecting this belief, included erection of
a burial platform near the dwelling of the depart-
ed one. Upon this was placed, besides the corpse,
his weapons, tools, ornaments, food, and water.

Fires were built around the scaffold to supply‘

light and comfort for the departed. The warrior’s
remains might be on the platform for half a year
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“the stench . . . so great that mourners, appearing
at frequent intervals . . . sometimes fainted”
(McReynolds, 1954, p. 94).

Caring for the Choctaw dead became an
elaborate ritual involving several groups of special-
lists, including bone-pickers. These early-day
undertakers, highly esteemed in the tribe, took
over when the corpse had decomposed. McRey-
nolds (1954, p. 94) wrote:

. these men, with no other instruments
than long, sharpened fingernails, mounted

the platform and picked the flesh from the

bones. The skull was painted with ver-

milion, and the skeleton was passed down

to waiting relatives, who laid it in a well-

construeted coffin. The platform and de-

cayed flesh were then burned. The coffin

was placed with others in the village bone-

house and the mourners gathered for a

ceremonial banquet, the bone-pickers pre-

siding as honored officials. At intervals,

all the coffins were carried to the burial

mound, where several communities might

find space for the bones of their dead.

Besides the elaborate care given to the Choc-
taw dead by the bone-pickers, the tribe also had
an unusual practice called the funeral cry. Christ-
1an missionaries assailed most of the Choctaw
religious beliefs; and one by one these pagan
practices were abandoned. The funeral cry, how-
ever, survived until recent times. Little grief was
exhibited at the time of death, and the funeral
sermon might not be preached for a year follow-
ing death. During this interval, the widow sent
invitations to relatives and friends now and then
to come to the grave for a cry. This was preceded
and followed by a feast and was always well
attended (Debo, 1934, p. 229).

Choctaw superstitions were many and elab-
orate, the most gruesome one concerning the
witch-test. The Choctaws believed that witches
removed their vitals and hung them on a tree limb
in preparation for going forth to cast spells and do
mischief among the people. “If one happened to
find a human heart and entrails hanging on a
limb and a moment later saw a human form
come and quickly try to replace them in its body
the onlooker should instantly kill the strange
being for it was surely a witch.” (See The Daily
Oklahoman, April 23, 1939.)



The country where the Choctaws had devel-
oped this interesting lore and had thrived eco-
nomically and politically as a nation, was coveted
by land-hungry planters soon after 1800. By a
series of treaties, beginning in 1820 with the
Treaty of Doak’s Stand and ending in 1830 with
the Treaty of Dancing Rabbit Creek, the Choc-
taws surrendered their historic home in Alabama
and Mississippi. In return they received title to a
vast domain west of Arkansas, extending to the
one-hundredth meridian and bounded north by
the Canadian and the Arkansas, and south by the
Red.

The Choctaws knew this new country fairly
well, for hunting parties had ventured up Red
River into Oklahoma long before 1800. Pushma-
taha led an expedition north of the Arkansas in
1807. Near the mouth of the Verdigris, he met
and defeated Joseph Bogy’s French Canadians and
Osage allies. Encouraged by the favorable reports
that Pushmataha and other leaders brought back,
small parties of Choctaw settlers started moving
into the southeastern portion of their new country
in the middle 1820’s.

The big movement of Choctaws, however,
which did not begin until after 1830, extended
over a period of three years. While some Choctaws
came by steamer as far as Little Rock, most of the
migrants came on foot in parties of 500 to 1,000
persons each. Tribal leaders, missionaries, and
United States agents and officers accompanied
each group.

Blizzards, cholera epidemics, exposure, and
lack of supplies caused hundreds to die on the
trail; and the Choctaw exodus rivaled the Chero-
kee Trail of Tears for misery and hardship. The

Anot 3 hrree 1:fa 2 sdan+ £ 1ote
COst iii Nuiman 1irf is SVialntl irdcin the statistics.

Just before removal in 1831, the Mississippi and
Alabama Choctaw population numbered 20,000.
(See Senate Document, No. 512, 23 Congress, 1st
sess.) In 1843, the missionary, Cyrus Byington,
enumerated 12,690 Choctaws in the West. These
figures reveal the losses attendant to removal
(Thwaites, 1905, p. 317).

Settlers were attracted to three areas in the
Choctaw Country. One big Choctaw settlement
was established northeast along the Poteau River
in present Le Flore County and along the Arkan-
sas River into Haskell County. Another string of
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settlements ran southeast on the tributaries of
Little River onto the Red in present McCurtain
County. The third settlement area ran west from
the Kiamichi River into present Choctaw County.

Trading towns mushroomed around strategic
water and land points. Eagletown, Doaksville,
Towson, Skullyville, Boggy Depot, Tamaha,
Perryville, and Mayhew served as important trade
centers before the Civil War. Each of these towns
had a post office, a market center for livestock
and agricultural produce, stores stocking a variety
of commodities, blacksmith shops, and hotels.

- Several towns published newspapers both in

English and Choctaw. The most notable was the
Choctaw Telegraph-Inzelligencer, produced at
Doaksville, and edited by David Folsom, a Choc-
taw mixed-blood.

Several important highways crossed the Choc-
taw Nation and kept the tribe in close contact
with developments in the States. These included
the military road fromy Fort Smith to Towson,
the Washita-Towson Road, and the Texas Road.
Texas immigrants filled these highways during
the 1830’s and 1840’s (Goode, 1836, p. 189). When
the Butterfield Stage Line inaugurated service to
California in 1858, the Texas Road through the
Choctaw Country was an important link. Choc-
taws maintained stage stands, ferries, and turn-
pikes along the route,

From Boggy Depot a road ran west to the
California gold fields, and, from 1849 to 1860, old
Boggy’s hotels and inns were filled from time to
time with California migrants. South of Towson
Choctaw merchants built landings and ware-
houses on the Red, and Choctaw farmers and
traders became linked with the rich trade at Nat-
chitoches and New Orleans.

Steamboats brought machinery, slaves, furn-
iture, carpets, and other trappings to decorate
elegant town homes and plantations in the Choc-
taw Country. These steamboats carried to south-
ern markets Choctaw furs, hides, grain, meat
products, and cargoes of cotton raised by slaves
on Choctaw plantations. -

The full-bloods usually settled in the hills
and mountains away from the stream of com-
merce and industry. Living in crude cabins, they
farmed small subsistence patches and hunted and
fished for a living. The more aggressive mixed-



bloods, besides operating businesses in the towns,
established stock ranches, farms, and plantations
along the fertile river valleys. Even on the cotton
plantations, the curse of the one-crop system was
avoided, for besides cotton, they planted orchards,
cultivated corn and other crops, and ran herds of
cattle, hogs, and horses. Each operator sought to

be as self-sufficient as possible (Goode, 1836, p-
- 187). ‘

As had been their custom in the East, lands in
the Choctaw Country were held in common, title
being vested in the tribe. A Choctaw could settle
anywhere in the nation and take over as much
land as he chose so long as he did not trespass
on a fellow tribesman’s holdings. He could be-
queath or sell all improvements made on the land,
but not the land. .

An example of remarkable initiative in the
use of Choctaw County resources is found in the
life of Robert M. Jones. This mixed-blood Choc-
taw was born in Mississippi in 1808. Educated in
the mission schools of his nation, he was gradua-
ted from the Choctaw Academy in Kentucky at
the age of nineteen. Upon his return to Mississippi,
Jones found that his guardian had saved $1,800 for
him from annuity payments. The youth invested
this sum in trade merchandise and left Mississippi
for the Choctaw Country in 1832.

Jones established trading posts at Doaksville,
Lukfata, Skullyville, and Boggy Depot. Profits
from these ventures were used to purchase slaves.
These were put to work clearing bottom land on
the Red, building dwellings, roads, and landings,
and opening new cotton lands. By the outbreak
of the Civil War, Jones was one of the wealthiest
‘men in the American West. Owner of 500 slaves,
he operated six plantations on the Red. Besides
the 5,000-acre Rose Hill, the parent enterprise,
the plantations were named Lake West, Boggy,
Root Hog, Shawneetown, and Walnut Bayou.

Multimillionaire Jones added to his cconomic
empire in the 1840’s by acquiring a sugar plant-
ation in Louisiana. His fleet of steamboats plied
between Red River Landing and New Orleans,
and several ranches on the upland pastures of the
Kiamichi were filled with livestock bearing the
“RJ” brand. (See The Daily Oklahoman, March
11, 1928.)

Cotton was the most important export from
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the Choctaw Nation, and by 1860, probably as
many as 300,000 bales were shipped to New Or-
leans annually. In addition, the Choctaws export-
ed hides, grain, honey, furs, pecans, lumber pro-
ducts, and salt. .

Much of the Choctaw economic success in
the ante-bellum period was due to the tribal
interest in education. The first educators among
the Choctaws were missionaries. About 1800
the tribe received the interest of Protestant mis-
sionary groups, and by the 1820’s the influence of
their teachings was evident in various facets of
tribal life. The general pattern for missionaries
was to establish a mission and a school, based on
the simple and practical objective of educating
the heart, head, and hand of Indian enrollees.
 Other basic subjects taught by the missionaries

-imparted the rudiments of Western learning.

Vocational education, supplied through the
school farm and shops, was aimed at making the
Indian children competent to earn a living as
adults. Besides attending mission schools within
the nation, Choctaw youths could continue their
education at Choctaw Academy at Blue Springs,
Kentucky, established in 1824 by the Baptist
Missionary Society. This school had been made
possible by a provision in the Treaty of Doak’s
Stand, 1820, which provided that proceeds from
the sale of fifty-four sections of Choctaw land in
Mississippi be set aside for educating Choctaw
children. For a. quarter of a century, Choctaw
youths were educated at this academy, and many
of its graduates became outstanding in the poli-
tical, social, and business life of the tribe in the
Choctaw Country.

Missionaries accompanied the tribe to the
West and in a short time had substantial schools
and missions in operation. The American Board
of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, consisting
of Congregationalists and Presbyterians, was active
[rom the beginning. Cyrus Kingsbury, Alfred
Wright, Cyrus Byington, and Ebenezer Hotchkin
were outstanding as builders of Presbyterian
churches and schools in the Choctaw Country.
Baptists and Methodists were active, too. By 1838
there were twelve neighborhood schools in the
West for Choctaw children. Advanced education
was available at Goodland, Fort Coffee, Spencer,
and Armstrong Academies for boys, and at Good-



water, Pine Ridge, Wheelock, and New Hope
Seminaries for girls (Goode, 1836, p. 181).

The Choctaw Nation helped support these
boarding schools through appropriations, and
each year sought to increase the number of local
or neighborhood day schools. Adult education to
increase literacy in the tribe among those above
school age was undertaken, too. Missionaries set
these adult classes up as “Sunday Schools,” and the
program was subsidized by tribal appropriations.
“Whole families came and camped near the
church or schoolhouse, attended school on Satur-
day and Sunday, and received instruction in the
rudiments of arithmetic, and reading and writing
in the Choctaw language” (Debo, 1934, p. 61, 62).
Missionaries had reduced the Choctaw language
to the Roman alphabet, and in less than twenty-
five years following removal, the Choctaws, young
and old alike, had become a “literate people”
(Debo, 1934, p. 62).

Besides achieving a remarkable intellectual
success in the Choctaw Country, missionaries also
induced many tribesmen to accept the Christian
religion. This was done by missions and churches,
visitation, circuit preaching, and the ever-popular
camp meeting. Everyone in the community en-
joyed the annual camp meeting and anticipated
it with considerable preparation, for a camp
meeting in the Choctaw Country was a social as
well as a religious event (Benson, 1860, p. 142,
143). Frequently the meeting, held during the
summer and lasting from ten to twenty days, was
interdenominational, involving Baptists, Presby-
terians, and Methodists. Choctaw families camped
on the edge of the clearing, where brush arbors

had been constructed around a permanent log
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and testimonies, the worshippers shared in a
feast of beef, pork, yams, tam-fula (Choctaw
hominy), and coffee (Morrison, 1951, p. 40-47).

The impact of the missionary on Choctaw
culture is readily apparent. In terms of number
of converts, by 1861 the Choctaw Nation could
be called a Christian nation, for twenty-five per-

cent of the tribe was Presbyterian, Methodist, or

Baptist; Choctaw tribal law required Sunday
observance; ball games, horse racing, gambling,
and hunting were forbidden on the Lord’s Day;
and the Choctaw Council opened and closed its
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sessions with prayer (Debo, 1934, p. 64, 65).

Whiskey, the scourge of the Indian, was a
problem in the Choctaw Country, and mission-
aries carried on a lively temperance program,
working it into the adult education system. The
Choctaw Council supported this aim by law. In
discussing one session of the Council, Debo (1934,
p- 65) wrote:

. . many speeches were made against the
evils of drink, and it was voted by acclam-
ation that any citizen who should intro-
duce intoxicating liquors into the Nation
would be punished by one hundred lashes
and the destruction of his stock. The law,
however, was not made retroactive, and
after adjournment the members of the
Council began to realize that liquor would
continue for some time until the stock on
hand should be exhausted. Accordingly,
they decided to drink up the available
supply, a feat which they accomplished
in two hours. The immediate effect upon
those who performed this necessary public
service is said to have been rather appal-
ling.

Missionary influence temporized the old
tribal application of law of vengeance, the Choc-
taw lex talionis, and substituted public punish-
ment for offenders. Witchcraft and tribal super-
stitions gradually fell before the enlightenment of
mission-school education. Polygamy, a long-stand-
ing practice in the tribe, was abolished by tribal
law in 1849, again showing the effects of the
incessant campaigning of missionaries and Christ-
ian teachings.

The extent of the Choctaws as a Christian
nation is evidenced by their concern for others.
One example is found in 1847, when news of the
potato famine in Ireland stirred the Choctaw
leaders to call a meeting of citizens at Skullyville.
sympathy for the
unfortunate, a collection of $710 was taken on:
the spot to help ease the Irish distress. (See Niles
Register, 1847, vol. 72, p. 139.)

In no field did the Choctaws show greater
skill than in politics. In 1826 the Choctaws replac-
ed their old common law and tribal government
with a written constitution. Very similar to the
United States Constitution, the Choctaw docu-
ment provided for a bill of rights, including trial
by jury, and three coordinate departments of gov-
ernment. Also, the nation was divided into three

districts, with a chief elected from each district
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to serve as the chief exccutive. This comprised a
sort of triumvirate similar to the classic Roman
system. The Choctaw legislature, a bicameral
body called the Council, was supreme in govern-
mental affairs, for besides regular law-making
powers, the Council also had general oversight
powers over the executive and judicial branches.

Soon after removal to the Choctaw Country,
a new constitution was adopted. Largely based

upon the Constitution of 1826, this document.

provided for a more claborate judicial system.
Again in 1857, the Choctaws wrote a new con-
stitution, modeling it on the constitutions of the
states, even going so far as to change the title
Principal Chief to Governor. This change was
very unpopular with the full-bloods, so to quiet
the opposition, the so-called Doaksville Constitu-
tion was produced in 1860. Among other minor
changes, the old title of Principal Chief was
restored. Except for chianges required by the close
of the Civil War, including abolition of slavery
and citizenship for freedmen, the Doaksville
Constitution remained the guide for government
in the Choctaw Country until 1907 when all
tribal governments were abolished.

The tribal capitol for carrying on govern-
ment in the Choctaw Country was situated at
various places. Following removal, the first Choc-
taw capitol, a log council house, was located two
miles west of Tuskahoma in Pushmataha County
and was named Nanih Waya for the Choctaw
sacred mountain in Mississippi. In succession the
Choctaw capitol was situated at Doaksville, Bogay
Depot, and Chata Tamaha (Armstrong Acad-
emy). Finally a permanent brick capitol, erected
at Tuskahoma in 1883, served the Choctaw Nation
as its political center until tribal governments
were abolished in 1907. (See The Daily Okla-
homan, June 16, 1929.)

The area administered by the Choctaw gov-
ernment varied through the years, as the Choctaw
Country was gradually reduced in size. When the
Choctaws arrived in the West in the carly 1830,
their domain extended from Arkansas to the one-
hundredth meridian. In 1837, the Choctaws
agreed by the Treaty of Doaksville to share their
country with the Chickasaws. Soon the latter
grew restive under a government dominated by
the more numerous Choctaws. To quiet Chicka-

saw complaints, in 1855 the Choctaw domain was
reduced by about two-thirds. The center third of
the Choctaw Country was granted to the Chick-
asaws. The western third, extending from the
ninety-cighth to the one-hundredth meridian,
was taken over by the United States on a lease
basis to provide a home for the plains tribes.

Law and order were maintained, and life and
property were protected in the Choctaw Country
by the Indians themselves. A domestic tranquility
in the ante-bellum period, which would compare
favorably with that of the best-ordered eastern
states, was created by the establishment of county
and district courts with a supreme court for
appellate work only. A grand-jury system was
used for indictments, and a petit jury for trials.
Each Choctaw county had a sheriff and a court-
house. Jails were seldom used, for Choctaw of-
fenders followed a code of reporting to authorities
at the appointed time. A perverse criminal might
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Figure 10. Indian Territory Rangers—two Choc-
taw Lighthorsemen (From Division of Manuscripts,
the University of Oklahoma Library).



be chained to a tree on the courthouse green as a
precaution (Benson, 1860, p. 215).

Besides county enforcement officers, the
Choctaw Nation maintained a system of light-
horsemen. These were rangers who were vested
with extraordinary powers and who served as
messengers, guards, and special agents to enforce
liquor laws and apprehend criminals that local
sheriffs couldn’t handle.

Punishment in the Choctaw Nation explains
in part the remarkable order that prevailed there.
Public whipping on the courthouse green was
common punishment for minor offenses like
theft, and on first occasion the offender received
fifty lashes on his bare back. A second offense
brought one-hundred lashes; and a third offense,
automatic death. Thus there were few habitual
criminals. Homicide brought an automatic death
penalty. The rifle, rather than hanging, was used
for execution because “Choctaws regarded hang-
ing with superstitious horror as a mode of death
that condemned the spirit to eternal wandering”
(Debo, 1934, p. 47).

If Choctaw executions were sordid, they had
their dramatic side too, for a condemned Choctaw
was seldom imprisoned, but presented himself
quietly on the appointed day. There are cases
where executions were delayed so thar the con-
demned could help his team play a scheduled ball
game, or to enable him to harvest the crops and
make provision for his widow-to-be. On the ap-
pointed day he appeared at the execution post,
a small piece of black paper was pinned over his
heart, and then, hoodwinked with a black necker-
chief, he faced the executioner’s rifle. (See The
Daily Oklahoman, May 13, 1928.)

The advancement of these peopie of the Choc-
taw Country in government, economic prosperity,
religion, and the arts was suddenly interrupted by
the Civil War. The persuasiveness of the Confed-
erate cause promoted by Albert Pike, special com-
missioner to the Indian Territory, helped induce
the Choctaws to align with the South. Pike’s
treaty with the Choctaws was signed on July 12,
1861. Whereas in the Cherokee, Creek, and Sem-
inole nations there was indecision, wavering, and
disunity, the Choctaws almost to the man sided
with the Confederacy. Choctaw regiments served
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with valor in Arkansas and the Indian Territory,
and raided into southern Missouri.

The Choctaw Country became an arsenal for
the Confederacy in the West, its farms and plant-
ations producing food and other necessary sup-
plies, and its craftsmen turning out shoes, uni-
forms, and weapons. Fort McCulloch and Boggy
Depot became important supply depots and
defensive points.

The Choctaw Country did not feel the brunt
of war until a massive Union offensive smashed
through Fort Gibson and Fort Smith late in 1863
and penetrated the northern fringe, destroying
Perryville and Scullyville. Thereafter roads
throughout the Choctaw Country were clogged
with Cherokee, Creek, and Seminole refugees,
fleeing the terror of Union reprisal.

For more than two years the Choctaw Coun-
cil was hard pressed to provide the means for
feeding these unfortunates, but somehow the
hospitable Choctaws managed to furnish the re-
fugees with the basic essentials for survival. The
Civil War ended officially for the Choctaws on
June 19, 1865, when Principal Chief P. P. Pitch-
lynn surrendered all Choctaw forces to Federal
officials in Doaksville (U. S. War Dept., 1885, p.
1105-1106).

Following the Civil War, the Government of
the United States undertook to punish the Con-
federate states and territories by an elaborate pro-
cess called reconstruction. The vindictiveness of
the government at Washington toward the states
of the Confederacy extended to the Indian Terri-
tory. The Choctaws, together with the Cherokees,
Creeks, Seminoles, and Chickasaws, were sum-
moned to Fort Smith on September 8, 1865, to
meet with United States commissioners, there to
learn their fate.

Reconstruction for the Indian Nations form-
erly allied with the Confederacy meant the aboli-
tion of slavery, adoption of freedmen into tribal
citizenship, and amnesty for northern sympath-
izers. United States commissioners also sought
to force the surrender of one-third of the Choctaw
Country for the settlement of other Indian tribes,
cession of the Leased District, and a general
agreement to consolidate all Indian tribes of the
territory under one government.



The Choctaws were represented at the Fort
Smith Council by Robert M. Jones. Since he had
served as delegate for the Choctaws to the Con-
federate Congress in Richmond during the Civil
War years, Jones was well informed on the issues.
The terms of reconstruction were completely
unacceptable to Jones and other tribal delegates,
and each carried on a program of obstruction
and delay so effectively that the United States

commissioners gave up in disgust and recessed the

council to resume in Washington the following
year.

* Before leaving for Washington, the Choctaw
delegation, headed by Allen Wright, was carefully
instructed by the Council. The delegation was
authorized to cede no part of the Choctaw Coun-
try. Any concessions required could be made on
the Leased District, but even on this, payment
must be made before the Choctaws would surren-
der title. .-

- The Treaty of Washington, signed in 1866
by the members of the Choctaw delegation, was
a credit to their skill in negotiation, for they were
-able to follow the Choctaw Council’s instructions
to the letter. Not a single acre of the Choctaw
Country was surrendered. The Leased District
was purchased by the United States. The plan for
a union government for the Indian Territory was
subscribed to in principle, and Allen Wright
supplied the name for the proposed organization
—Oklahoma.

The Choctaws, now at peace with the United
States, turned to the heavy burden of rehabilitat-
ing the war-torn Choctaw Country. The energy
and resources of the Choctaw Nation were so
absorbed in the task of meeting the various post-
war problems that the remarkable progress made
in the ante-bellum period was never matched.

One of the most pressing problems was that
of the freedman, and this problem was two-fold.
Not only were the Choctaws required by treaty
to grant citizenship to their former slaves and to
provide for them, but in addition there was every
possibility that the Choctaw Country would have
to absorb Negroes from various southern states.
The Freedman’s Bureau worked out a plan where-
by the Choctaw Country would be surveyed,
Negro colonies would be moved in from the

Deep South, and each Negro family would be
awarded 160 acres. Choctaw families were to
receive eighty acres each. Great blocks of land
were to be taken up in the Choctaw Country for
settlement of Kansas Indians and railroad grants.
Any land remaining was to be awarded to white
settlers under the land laws of the United States.

A dismal future faced the Choctaws, and
only by prompt and astute dealing were they able
to forestall disaster. The problem of handling their
own former slaves was not so great. The Choctaw
Council passed laws requiring freedmen in the
Choctaw Country to be gainfully employed, cur-
fews were set, and each freedman family could
occupy and use no more than forty acres of land
in the Choctaw Country. The Choctaw Council
repeatedly demurred on giving these freedmen
citizenship, despite constant pressure from the
United States. Finally in 1883, eighteen years after
this requirement was laid down, the Choctaw
Nation extended citizenship to its 3,000 former
slaves.

The pride of the Choctaw Country was its
schools, and early in the post-war period, the
Choctaw Council turned to. the problem of edu-
cation. Concerned about a generation of children
growing up without education, the Council spent
most of its annual budget between 1866 and 1870
replacing burned and wrecked buildings, purchas-
ing books and supplies, hiring teachers, and grad-
ually up-grading scholastic standards until by
1870 eighty-four neighborhood schools were in
operation, the major Choctaw academies and
seminaries had been reopened, and advanced
Choctaw students were attending colleges in the
States.

Law and order problems complicated admini-
stration of the Choctaw Country and placed an
added drain on the Council. Whites and Negroes
roamed the Choctaw Country in bands, looting,
raping, and pillaging citizens on farms and in
villages. Cattle thieves were everywhere and the
great Choctaw ranch herds were practically eli-
minated. Life and property were in danger. -
Communities formed Vigilance Committees, a
counterpart of the Ku Klux Klan, and by warn-
ings, whippings, and hangings soon restored
order.



The number of lighthorsemen was increased
too, and these ranger units handled situations too
big for local committees. By 1870, normal busi-
ness was carried on, people moved freely through-
out the Choctaw Country without fear for person
or property, ranches and farms had been restored,
and annual cotton production was approaching
the pre-war high of 300,000 bales.

The most disturbing and persistent problem
facing the Choctaw Country in the post Civil War
period was the ever-increasing influx of whites.
Not only were these immigrants leasing farm and
ranch lands, but they were also developing lumber
mills and coal mines. Whites also served as tenants
on Choctaw farms and plantations and developed
stores, shops, and banks.

The building of railroads north and south

through the Indian Territory increased white
migration, for railroads afforded ready access to
lumber, coal, and agricultural products and easy
transportation to markets north and south. The
first line through the Choctaw Country was the
Missouri-Kansas-Texas line, which entered from
the north in 1872, and within a year crossed the
Red River into Texas.

Commercial coal mining began at McAlester
in 1872, and the Choctaw government leased the
coal] fields to eastern operators in return for a
royalty on each ton of coal mined. The coal
companies, finding Choctaws unwilling miners,
imported workers from the East and from Europe.
Mining camps mushroomed over the coal veins;
and McAlester, Hartshorne, Haileyville, Krebs,
Alderson, and Lehigh became the sites of some

Figure 11. Tuskahoma Female Institute, Choctaw Nation, 1896 (From Division
of .Manuscipts, the Unmiversity of Oklahoma Library).



of the heaviest coal production in the United
States.

By 1889 more than 15,000 miners and their
families lived in these camps, most of them
foreign-born and including Italians, Swedes, Eng-
lish, Welsh, Germans, Lithuanians, Slovaks, Poles,
Magyars, and Russian Jews. By 1907 the mining-
camp population of the Choctaw Nation was
nearly 25,000 and thereby exceeded the number
of Choctaws (Morrison, 1951, p. 158).

Prompted by railroads, the coal fields of
the Choctaw Nation increased production each
year until by 1887, fifteen years after the opening
of the first commercial mine, Choctaw mines
were producing more than half a million tons of
coal each year. (See Annual Report of the Com-
missioner of Indian Affairs for 1887, p. 119).

The last twenty-five year period in the Choc-
taw Country was a troubled one, exceeded possibly
only by those of the Civil War and its immediate
aftermath for confusion and tribal difficulty.
Strikes in the coal camps and increasing white
migration created disorders unknown before in
the Choctaw Country. But even greater trouble
was in the offing. About 1879, well-organized
Boomer groups began a campaign to force the
opening of the entire Indian Territory to white
settlement. Various government officials encour-
aged the Choctaws and other tribes to abandon
common ownership of land, accept allotments in
severalty, and sell all surplus lands to the govern-
ment to provide homesteads for settlers.

The Choctaw Council refused to discuss the
subject of breaking up the Choctaw Country. A
well-instructed delegation was maintained in
Washington at all times to lobby against proposals
to break up the Choctaw County and to carry out
the allotment program. The Choctaw Council
condemned the Boomers by resolution, and in
1880 appropriated $1,500 to insure the prosecution
of Boomer leader, David L. Payne, who was in
jail at Fort Smith awaiting trial for trespassing on
Indian lands. Despite the bitter offensive waged
by the Choctaws to preserve the integrity of the
Choctaw Country, a more powerful and merciless
government, spurred on by national farm, rail-
road, and business lobbies, moved relentlessly
toward dissolution of the Choctaw Nation.
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In 1890, Congress passed the Organic Act
providing for the organization of territorial gov-
ernment for Oklahoma Territory. A provision in
this act extended the laws of Arkansas to Indian
Territory. (See United States Statues at Large,
vol. 19, p. 230.) This meant that all legal matters,
except those of a strictly local character, were no
longer under the dominion of Choctaw, Chick-
asaw, Creek, Seminole, or Cherokee jurisdiction.

Next came the Dawes Commission. Appoint-
ed in 1893, this group was assigned the task of
preparing rolls for each of the Five Civilized
Tribes, having the Choctaw Country and other
nations surveyed, assigning each enrollee an al-
lotment, and preparing the tribal governments
for dissolution, thereby making statehood for the
Indian Territory only a matter of time.

In June 1898, Congress passed the Curtis Act,
a measure which set forth the steps for carrying
out the allotment program and bringing tribal
affairs to a close. Before the passage of this act,
the Choctaws had joined at Atoka with the
Chickasaws to sign the Atoka Agreement, where-
by the two tribal governments agreed to abolish
their tribal governments and permit the allotment
of their lands. The chief value of the Atoka Agree-
ment was that it insured that each enrolled man,
woman, and child would receive a fair and equit-
able share of the Choctaw Country. (See Unized
States Statutes at Large, vol. 30, p. 495.)

As it worked out each enrolled Choctaw was
to receive an allotment of 320 acres of average
land, and each Choctaw freedman 40 acres of
average land (Wright, 1951, p. 111). In each of
the Indian nations conservative elements refused
to cooperate with the allotment program, holding
that the Great Spirit had foreordained that the
Indians should hold land in common. In the
Creek Nation civil war nearly erupted around the
Crazy Snake movement.

The conservatives in the Choctaw Nation,
distressed to see the Choctaw Country carved up
with allotments and the historic tribal institutions
destroyed, sought through the Choctaw Council
to gain passage of a law providing for the death
penalty for anyone in favor of changing the com-
mon ownership of the Choctaw Country. This
barely failed to pass. Thereupon, the conservatives



organized a Crazy Snake movement in the Choc-
taw Nation. Leaders of this group visited Mexico
with an intent to purchase land there from the
Mexican Government, to move to Mexico, and
to hold land in common. The Crazy Snake group
also held that the Dawes Commission had no
legal authority, and members who cooperated
with the allotment program were threatened.
When several conservatives refused to choose
allotments, the commission made selections for

them. Only with time did the irreconcilables ac-
cept allotments (Debo, 1934, p. 267).

The Choctaw government, an empty shell
after 1900, continued to exist until the eve of
statehood, when Indian Territory and Oklahoma
were merged. Thereafter tribal government was
largely an empty, honorary operation, with the
offices of Principal Chief, national attorney, and
mining trustee serving under and supervised by
the Department of the Interior (Wright, 1951, p.
113).

Figure 12. Corn and cotton fields on a Choctaw allotment, McCurtain County
(From Division of Manuscripts, the Univesity of Oklahoma Library).



INVERTEBRATES OF BEAVERS BEND STATE PARK

CLurr E. HopLa

The most extensive living fauna at Beavers
Bend State Park is the invertebrates, or, as they
are commonly known, “animals without back-
bones.” To present a complete check list of this
group would be a most arduous task and would
take the time of several specialists for many
years. For example, it is believed that there are
approximately 1,000,000 species of insects in the
world; and it is estimated that in an area slightly
larger than this park 26,000 species of this part-
icular group of animals exist. The latter f1gurc
is greater than the total vertebrate species
in North America. For this reason, our list of
invertebrates will be concerned only with the
common forms that can be observed without the
aid of optical equipment.

Beavers Bend State Park has an invertebrate
fauna of special interest for those of us who
live in the central and western parts of the
state. It is a blend of eastern and southern forms.
No species is distinctive of the park alone, the
fauna being similar to that of the surrounding
area. .

It is hoped that the list which follows, based
upon general habitats, will prove useful.

In and Adjacent to the Mountain Fork River

In the river:

Moss animals (Bryozoa) are often abundant
upon sticks and logs submerged in the
water.

Mollusks (phylum Mollusca) Freshwater
clams (class Pelecopoda) are resonably
abundant. Often one can see the raccoon
searching for them during the night.
Snails (class Gastropoda) are usually
abundant upon the emergent vegetation.

Arthropods, craw dads or cray fish. (class
Crustacea, order Malacostraca), and am-
phipods (order Amphipoda) are common
forms.

Aquatic insects (class Insecta), particularly
those whose immature forms are aquatic,
are abundant during certain seasons of
the year. The dragon and damsel flies
(Odonata), may flies (Ephemeroptera),
stone flies (Plecoptera), caddis flies
(Trichoptera), and the dobson fly or
hellgrammite (Megaloptera) are the
dominant forms encountered. These in-
sects are important in the food chain of
several game fish. Many of them are
attracted to light at night and are easily
captured when in season. Several families
of aquatic beetles are represented; especi-
ally conspicuous during the early spring
are the whirligig beetles belonging to the
family Gyrinidae.

Water bugs (Hemiptera) are also abundant;
water striders (Gerridae), giant water
bugs (Belostomatidac), and water scor-
pions (Nepidae) are common forms,
usually found in quiet water with
emergent vegetation.

Along the banks:

Arachnids (Arachnida) spiders, mites, and
ticks: Many spiders may be found, but
the most common form is likely to be the
wolf spider (Lycosidae), often seen car-
rying a sack of eggs attached to the tip
of the abdomen. If one looks closely, the
young spiderlings, for a short while after
hatching, are seen in a cluster on the
cephalothorax or on the abdomen. The
orb weavers (Argiopidae) are common
in the late summer and early fall. They
are large specimens, brilliantly marked
with yellow, orange, and black, and, like
practically all spiders, are beneficial to
man because they destroy large numbers
of insects.

Insecta: Pygmy locusts (Orthoptera, Tetri-



gidae) are usually drab, flightless little
grasshoppers. They are ecasily separated
from the small nymphs of other grass-
hoppers by the fact that the pronotum
forms a projection over the dorsal area
of the abdomen. Of course, other families
of grasshoppers may be seen throughout
the various areas of the park.

Toad bugs (Hemiptera-Gelastocoridae) Small
hopping insects; their robust, warty, dull-
colored bodies with large protruding
eyes strongly suggest a tiny toad. They are
protectively colored and would be easily
overlooked if they did not jump. Often
they hop into the water, but they are
very poor swimmers and are thus easily
captured They are abundant near the
swimming and boating area.

Flood plains:

Ass this area is a moist habitat, the kinds of
invertebrates found here are often the same as
those found along the banks of the river. Winged
forms, such as the moths and butterflies, are con-
spicuous. From the middle of May through
most of September the singing of the cicada
provides the major chorus from the animal king-
dom. Large centipeds (Chilopoda) and millipeds
(Diplopoda) are likely to be found here. An
especially striking centipede, Scolopendra, is pre-
sent. Earthworms (phylum Annelida, class Oli-
gochaeta) are abundant during certain times of
the year and can be seen with the aid of a light
during the darker hours of the day. Myriads of
damsel flies (Odonata) are seen; and especially
interesting are the broad-winged forms (Agrioni-
dae) which, though rare in most of Oklahoma,
are relatively common in the park and adjacent
areas.

‘Mountain Slopes

This is the largest habitat in the park; it is,
in general, heavily wooded and supports an abun-
dant population of arthropods. Certain of these
forms are pestiferous, such as the “chigger” mites
and ticks. Of the latter, 4 mblyomma americanum
(lone star t1ck) is unusual in its feedmg habits
for a tick, since it is not host specific in any of the

stages of its development; thus the larvae (seed-
ticks), nymphs (yearling ticks), and adults will
feed with equal avidity upon man or other mam-
mals. The deer is probably the favorite host of
this tick ; and, should deer become more abundant
in the park and adjacent areas, the tick is also
likely to increase in numbers.

Most of us react unfavorably to chigger bites;
but contrary to popular opinion, the chigger does
not bore underneath the skin. Its method of attach-
ment to the host is almost identical to that of a
tick. Only the larvae stage is parasitic upon verte-
brates, and, after feeding, it drops from the host
(if it has not been killed by scratching) and
completes its development. In subsequent stages
of development, the chigger is predacious upon
the eggs of 